DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 183

SIGRID SELBERG

Synthesis and properties of lipophilic phosphazene-based indicator molecules





DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

183

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 183

SIGRID SELBERG

Synthesis and properties of lipophilic phosphazene-based indicator molecules



Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia

Dissertation is accepted for the commencement of the degree of *Doctor philosophiae* in Chemistry on June 12th, 2019 by the Council of Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu

Supervisor:	Prof. Ivo Leito (PhD) Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu, Estonia
Opponent:	Borislav Kovačević (PhD), Senior research associate Ruđer Bošković Institute, Zagreb, Croatia
Commencement:	August 22 th , 2019 at 10.15, Ravila 14A-1020, Tartu (Chemicum)

Publication of this dissertation is granted by University of Tartu, Estonia.

This work has been partially supported by Graduate School of Functional materials and technologies receiving funding from the European Regional Development Fund in University of Tartu, Estonia.



ISSN 1406-0299 ISBN 978-9949-03-102-3 (print) ISBN 978-9949-03-103-0 (pdf)

Copyright: Sigrid Selberg, 2019

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	8
 LITERATURE OVERVIEW 1.1. Phosphazenes 1.1.1. Preparation of phosphazenes 1.2. Optical pH sensing 1.2.1. Design of an optical pH sensor 1.3. Lipophilicity 1.4. Methods for pK_a determination 	10 10 11 11 12 13 13
 2. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION	15 15 16 16 17 18 19
 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	22 27 29 30
SUMMARY	31
REFERENCES	32
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	35
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	36
PUBLICATIONS	37
CURRICULUM VITAE	63
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	64

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I. Selberg, S.; Rodima, T.; Lõkov, M.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Haljasorg, T.; Chhabra, S.; Kadam, S.A.; Toom, L; Vahur, S.; Leito, I. Synthesis and properties of highly lipophilic phosphazene bases. *Tetrahedron Letters* 2017, 58 (22), 2098–2102. DOI: 10.1016/j.tetlet.2017.04.039
- II. Selberg, S.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Leito, I. Biphasic pKa values. *Croatica Chemica Acta* 2019, 91 (4), 1–4. DOI: 10.5562/cca3405
- III. Selberg, S.; Pagano, T.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Haljasorg, T.; Vahur, S.; Luik, J.; Saame, J.; Leito, I. Synthesis and photophysics of a series of lipophilic phosphazene-based fluorescent indicators. *Journal of Phy*sical Organic Chemistry 2019, DOI: 10.1002/poc.3950.

Author's contribution

- **Paper I.** Lead author in preparing the manuscript. Performed all the synthesis and most of the measurement experiments.
- Paper II. Lead author in preparing the manuscript. Performed all the experiments.
- Paper III. Lead author in preparing the manuscript. Performed all the synthesis and most of the measurement experiments.

ABBREVIATIONS

λ_{abs}	Wavelength of absorbance maximum
λ_{em}	Wavelength of emission maximum
$\Delta p K_a$	Relative pK_a value
A^{-}	Counterion
ATR-FT-IR	Attenuated total reflection Fourier-transform infrared
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HRMS	High-resolution mass spectra
IFE	Inner filter effect
ISFET	Ion-sensitive field-effect transistor
logD	Logarithm of distribution ratio of a compound between
	the water-immiscible and aqueous phases
logP	Logarithm of partition coefficient of the neutral form
	for ionizable compounds
MeCN	Acetonitrile
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
Ph	Phenyl group
pK _a	Negative logarithm of the dissociation constant
pK_a^{ow}	Biphasic pK_a value in 1-octanol/water system
pK_{ac}^{ow}	Concentration based pK_a^{ow} value
pyrr	Pyrrolidino group

INTRODUCTION

The pH value is among the few chemical parameters that are widely measured and are highly important in many fields. In recent years there are more and more applications (real time pH monitoring in human tissue¹ or blood², pH effects on viruses³, in geology⁴ and oceanography⁵) that require improved methods for pH sensing. Among the possible approaches optical sensing is increasingly receiving attention. The design of an optical pH sensor is not trivial. There are a number of important properties of the pH indicator molecule and the matrix that need to be considered for a certain application which sets restrictions on the characteristics of the sensor. The key features of the indicator molecule that need to be considered are pK_a value, spectral properties (high extinction coefficient, absorption/excitation and emission band in the visible region, a large Stokes shift), lipophilicity, chemical and photo-stability. In specific applications polarity/hydrophilicity may be essential, since the matrix is usually a non-polar proton-permeable polymer membrane.^{6,7}

Although a large number of acid-base indicators have been reported^{6,8}, the majority of available indicators have well-defined charged groups in at least one of their charge states. Therefore the charged form tends to be hydrophilic and is prone to leaching out from the non-polar membrane into the aqueous test solution. This reduces the lifetime of the sensor and contaminates the test solution. There is a need to design indicator molecules that are hydrophobic in both neutral and charged forms. Such molecules would not be easily leached out of non-polar membranes. Additionally, they could act as "silent spectators" in systems where indicators are directly added, because they would have limited capability of specific interactions.^{6,9} In addition, such molecules should be photochemically and chemically stable with pK_a in the basic region at pH > 7.^{6,7} Currently there is also lack of such molecules.

In order to be able to measure pH in an extended range we could in principle use indicator molecules with several pK_a values. However, that would immediately lead to multiply charged species, which are very likely to be highly hydrophilic. An alternative approach taken in this thesis is using a group ("family") of similar indicator molecules with different pK_a values.^{6,7,10}

The main aim of this thesis was to design and synthesize a family of novel lipophilic indicators – active both via visible absorption and fluorescence. A major requirement was a high lipophilicity of both neutral and charged forms, thus lack of localized charges in the cationic forms. In addition, these compounds should have absorbance maxima in the visible spectral range upon protonation/deprotonation or even more preferably have a strong fluorescence. Also, the spectral properties have to change upon protonation/deprotonation. An advantageous feature would be easily tunable range of pK_a values which depends on used substituents. Phosphazene (iminophosphorane) structure – known for its basicity and lipophilicity – is proposed in this work as the basicity center. This structure is then modified by adding an absorbing and/or

fluorescing moiety. Such structures are expected to allow the synthesis of 0/+1 charge type indicators which satisfy the above requirements.^{11,12} Phosphazenes are well-known as strong bases but have not been used in design of indicators.

An additional aim was to create an original method for quantifying acidity/ basicity of lipophilic molecules in practically water-immiscible solvents (biphasic pK_a values).

1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW

1.1. Phosphazenes

Phosphazenes (iminophosphoranes or phosphine imides) are compounds of general structure RN=PR₃ in which a nitrogen atom is covalently linked to a tetracoordinate phosphorus atom by a (formally) double bond. The nitrogen atom is linked by single bond with the R, which in this work is an aromatic ring with different substituents. Additionally, the phosphorus atom is linked with three other groups (R) by single bonds. This work is mainly focused on the pyrrolidino and phenyl groups. Although they are structurally similar to phosphorus ylides (RHC=PR₃), the analogous phosphazenes are appreciably more stable.^{12–14} Phosphazenes are chemically stable to oxidation and hydrolysis and are easily available which is why phosphazenes are widely used in organic synthesis.^{12,15–17}

The nature of the phosphorus–nitrogen double bond in phosphazenes is important for understanding the basicity and spectral data of these compounds.¹³ Phosphazenes behave similarly to phosphorus ylides, where the phosphorus – carbon bond can be regarded either as a formal double bond (ylenic) or a formal single bond between two oppositely charged centers (ylidic), *i.e.* a zwitterionic structure.^{11,13} The ylidic structure is generally considered to have higher contribution, as evidenced by computational and experimental results. It has been shown that in phosphazenes there is a strong contribution of the zwitterionic (ylidic) structure.¹³ This means that the nitrogen atom in the P=N fragment should rather be presented as P^+-N^- . The N^- center is largely isoelectronic with the oxygen in a phenolate anion. This causes a significant delocalization of the electrons into the aromatic ring if attached to the imino group, which in turn is expressed by significantly lowered basicity, as compared to alkyl substituents on the imino nitrogen. This has been confirmed by basicity measurements of both phosphazenes¹³ and phosphorus ylides.¹⁸

Phosphazenes are well known as strong bases, since the ylidic structure dominates the ylenic structure. Therefore the imino nitrogen owns a significant negative partial charge and serves the site for protonation. Basicity of phosphazenes is easily predictable and tunable by substituents that are bonded with the phosphorus or the nitrogen atom. Therefore it is easy to design a phosphazene structure with desirable pK_a value $^{11,12,14,18-20}$. For example unsubstituents to phenyl ring it is possible to modify pK_a value over a wide range $(pK_a = 14.12 \ 2,6-(NO_2)_2$ -PhN=P(pyrr)₃, $pK_a = 23.9 \ 4-(CH_3)_2$ N-PhN=P(pyrr)₃).²⁰ Alkyl phosphazenes tend to be stronger bases than aryl phosphazenes (EtN=P(pyrr)₃ pK_a value is 28.89²⁰ and PhN=P(pyrr)₃ pK_a value is 22.17²⁰).

1.1.1. Preparation of phosphazenes

There are two different approaches to prepare phosphazenes, the direct coupling of nitrogen and phosphorus atoms or the indirect approach of substituting on a previously prepared phosphazene.¹⁴ For the direct preparation of N-substituted phosphazenes two main and generally applicable routes are used, the Staudinger reaction of alkyl or aryl azides with tertiary phosphanes and the Kirsanov reaction of amines with PCl₅ or tertiary phosphane dibromides.^{12,14,20} The Kirsanov reaction is known to work better with simpler phosphazenes.^{12,20}

1.2. Optical pH sensing

A large number of chemical reactions and processes are pH dependent, therefore a rapid and continuous pH determination is important in many fields.^{6,9}

Electrochemical, using a glass electrode or the ISFET electrode, pH determination method is the most commonly used.^{10,21} The electrochemical pH determination is a fast and reliable method, however there are some bottlenecks and problems using the electrochemical sensing. Especially when the aim is to measure the pH value in small systems like continuous pH determination in cells (pHsensitive dyes that could be loaded into the cytosol) or *in situ* measurement in blood.^{2,3,22} Potentiometric pH electrodes are too sizeable for described applications. In addition, measuring pH with potentiometric electrodes in environments with a low ionic-strength, in non-aqueous solvents is rather problematic and the electrodes show a rather poor performance in both extremes of the pH scale, especially in the highly alkaline region.^{10,21,23} The alternative way to get over these bottlenecks is an optical pH sensing.^{2,6} Optical sensors operate through changes in their optical properties such as absorption, fluorescence intensity and decay time, or reflectivity upon variations in pH value of the environment.⁶

Some oldest optical pH sensing methods involve an indicator compound simply in a test solution or bound on a paper (pH stripes).⁶ Current trends are using different optrodes or indicator molecules loaded into the tissue for pH determination.^{1,2} Designs of the optical sensors can be very miniature (down to sub micrometer dimensions and do not require a separate reference sensor), flexible and durable, and therefore offer a competition for the electrochemical pH electrodes.⁶ However, the optical pH sensing also has some bottlenecks. Since the indicator molecule is generally bound into a low polarity medium (polymer membrane⁸, sol-gel films²⁴, hydrogels²⁵) and the pH is measured in aqueous solution we need to consider a diffusion and according to this a response time. If the diffusion is slow, then the response time can reach up to several minutes. Other problem is a narrow working range, in the ideal case the same sensor can be used to measure pH value in the range of 0-14. Typically one indicator molecule can be used in a narrow range, sensing 2–3 pH units, to measure the whole range (0-14) we need to use several different indicator molecules.6,10,25

1.2.1. Design of an optical pH sensor

As mentioned before, different materials have been used to design an optical pH sensor. The suitable indicator molecule is usually bound into the solid matrix (polymer, sol-gel and hydrogel membranes) using adsorption, physical entrapment or covalent binding. Such matrices provide permeability, flexibility, as well as mechanical and chemical stability of the sensor. The target analyte is able to diffuse into the matrix and react with the entrapped indicator molecule. It is important to consider that the properties of the indicator molecule may change when it is bound into the matrix, pK_a shift can occur or spectral properties may be altered.^{6,7}

There are many different indicator molecules that can be engaged in the sensor application. Most common absorption-based pH sensor operation is based on a color change of a sensor layer in which a pH indicator dye is encapsulated. Examples of such dyes are phenolphthalein, phenol red, bromocresol green. Emission-based pH indicator molecules generally offer better selectivity and sensitivity than absorption based pH indicators. The best known and used fluorescent indicator molecules are 1-hydroxypyrene-3,6,8-trisulfonic acid (HPTS), fluorescein and their derivatives.^{6,7,26} In addition, emission-based sensing enables a wide range of measurement techniques: based on fluorescence intensity, lifetime, energy transfer, and polarization.

Adsorption is not very reliable as the binding method, since the indicator molecule may easily leach out from the matrix. Therefore the adsorption method is not widely used in sensor design.^{6,7}

In the case of covalent binding the indicator molecule is covalently bound into the polymer membrane or is bound on the surface of the membrane. Therefore the preparation of the senor is more complex and time-consuming and requires appropriate indicators and matrices with functional groups suitable for the immobilization, but there are less problems with the indicator molecule leaching out, low diffusion and the sensor has a longer lifetime. The design is even more sophisticated when binding several different indicator molecules.⁶ In addition, the working range have to be specified, since the covalent bond may be pH dependent (C-O-C bond is suitable for sensing neutral pH, but is labile in acidic and basic solutions²⁷).

A relatively easy method is mechanical binding (physical entrapment): the indicator molecule is non-covalently bound into vacancies in a polymer membrane. Generally the method presumes an indicator molecule with a higher molecular weight and a small analyte molecule that can migrate into the polymer layer. It is a rapid and straightforward method, the indicator molecule is dissolved into a solution of the polymer and then thin films are prepared. In particular, it is useful when there is a need to bind several different indicator molecules.⁶ Still, there are some bottlenecks like potentially short lifetime, when binding is not strong enough and the indicator molecule can leach out of the polymer membrane.^{24,28,29} The leaching out can be avoided by using highly lipophilic indicator molecules and polymer with small pores.⁶ Both neutral and

charged forms of such indicators are highly lipophilic, thus lack localized charges in the cationic/ anionic forms, and therefore, exhibit poor water solubility

1.3. Lipophilicity

The most common measures of lipophilicity are the logarithms of partition $(\log P)$ or distribution $(\log D)$ coefficients.³⁰ Lipophilicity is an important property in biochemistry, toxicology and medicinal chemistry³¹ as well as in chemistry related to sensors, receptors and indicator molecules embedded into polymer matrix. Reliable estimates of lipophilicity can be used to increase an efficiency of technological processes involving liquid extractions³², predict physicochemical and physiological properties³³ of compounds and designing sensors with a longer lifetime^{24,34–36}.

The most widely used and important solvent combination is the n-octanol/ water system. The solvation properties of octanol saturated with water are similar to the solvation properties of cell membranes^{37–39}. Therefore $\log P_{ow}$ and $\log D_{ow}$ are useful descriptors for properties related to distribution, absorption, metabolism, and excretion properties. Out of these two parameters $\log P_{ow}$ is more commonly used. There have also been studies measuring partition coefficients between other organic solvents like toluene or alkanes and water.^{33,37,40} The partition coefficient (P) is a ratio of equilibrium concentrations of the unionized form of a compound in organic solvent and water which are mutually saturated. The partition coefficient describes the lipophilicity of the unionized form of the compound and is independent of pH. The distribution coefficient (D) is a ratio of total concentrations of all forms of an ionizable solute in the system and therefore is dependent on pH value. In this work the D values were directly measured, because it was impossible to measure the P values directly due to the very low solubilities of the phosphazene bases in water.

1.4. Methods for pK_a determination

The acid dissociation constant (pK_a) is one of the most frequently used physicochemical parameter, and determination of pK_a is beneficial to a wide range of research fields. In this chapter we discuss pK_a measurement methods that are suitable for implementation in solutions. In general, several different methods are known to be used for the determination of pK_a values for example potentiometry, spectrometry, liquid chromatography, nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy and calorimetry.^{13,41-43} Generally any method which allows the quantitative measurement of a certain pH dependent parameter can be used for pK_a determination.⁴¹

The pKa determination methods can be divided into two groups – absolute and relative methods. The solvated proton activity is required to determine

absolute pK_a value, which is easy to measure in water using a pH-meter. The relative pK_a determination method can be used in non-aqueous solvents, since in the non-aqueous solvent the measurement of pH is frequently problematic.⁴⁴ In the case of relative pK_a methods it is possible to find the difference of dissociation constants of two compounds without measuring pH values directly.^{13,45}

One of the most used method for pK_a determination is spectrophotometric method for relative pK_a measurements.⁴¹ A requirement for the spectrophotometric measurement is the presence of a chromophore close to the ionization site in the molecule. Therefore, the spectra of the protonated and the deprotonated form can be expected to differ. In principle any wavelength can be used for the determination of pK_a , except at the isosbestic point at which wavelength of both forms have the same molar absorptivity. The best choice is a wavelength range where there is the largest difference between the absorbances of the protonated and deprotonated forms.⁴¹ In addition, two bases are needed for determination of the relative pK_a value. One with previously known pK_a value (reference base) and a compound of interest with an unknown pK_a value.^{11,13,46} The relative spectrophotometric method and calculations are described in detail in refs 13,45–47.

Over the years, a large number of data collections of pK_a values have been published in various solvents and their mixtures.⁴³ These pK_a values work really well when using pure solvents or their mixtures. Despite that, these pK_a values are not adequate for description of the solute properties in biphasic systems. Biphasic system here stands for a water-immiscible medium that is at equilibrium with water, and contains a lipophilic acid or base. Due to the low aqueous solubility the acid or base resides mainly in the water-immiscible medium. It can be envisaged that biphasic pK_a values will be useful in different fields⁴⁸: in catalysis where biphasic systems or emulsions are used,⁴⁹ in sensors based on polymeric membranes,^{6,50} in any processes with involvement of cell membranes)²³.

In this work an original method for determination of biphasic pK_a values is presented for the first time.

2. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

2.1. General procedures

The UV-Vis spectra (from 190 to 1100 nm, with 1 nm steps) of compounds, spectra for measurements of biphasic pK_a values and for correcting the inner filter effects (IFEs) to fluorescence spectra were measured with an Evolution 300 UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Thermo Nicolet) in the double-beam mode. The instrumental settings included 2 nm resolution and intelliscan (scan speed 120 – 1200 nm/min). Concentrations of compounds for measuring absorption spectra were in the order of $n \cdot 10^{-5}$ mol L⁻¹. Concentrations in the case of measurements for IFE corrections were in the order of $n \cdot 10^{-6}$ mol L⁻¹. The pK_a values in MeCN were measured using different UV-Vis spectrophotometers from Perkin-Elmer (Lambda 12 or Lambda 40) and Agilent (Cary 60). The spectrophotometers were connected to a glovebox using a fiber-optics accessory. The measurement method consisted in determining ΔpK_a values of two compounds and has been described in refs 13,15,46,51.

The fluorescence emission spectra were measured using a Horiba FluoroMax-4 spectrofluorometer and were corrected for IFE. Lifetime measurements were carried out with a portable filter-based phase shift fluorimeter (Tau Theta, Boulder, CO-MFPF-1 M model). The LED modulated light source of 405 nm was operated at 1 MHz. Detection was performed by an on-board avalanche photodiode. The lifetime instrument was calibrated against coumarin 6 known lifetime (2.39 ns⁵²).⁵³ The ultrasound deoxygenation was used as described in ref 54.

Methods to verify the compound molecular structures (HRMS, ATR-FT-IR and NMR) and detailed information of measurements are presented mainly in work I.

Analysis of the aqueous, octanol and toluene phases obtained during lipophilicity measurements were made with an Agilent 1200 liquid chromatograph equipped with a 5-wavelength UV-Vis detector. The stationary phase was Zorbax Eclipse XDC-C18 (Agilent) with column dimensions 4.6×250 mm and average particle size 5 µm.

The origin and quality of the used chemicals are presented in works I, II and III.

In this work two different methods for pK_a determination are involved: pK_a measurement in MeCN and biphasic pK_a measurement in the octanol/water system. Due to the high lipophilicity and very low aqueous solubility of the synthesized phosphazenes **1a–4d** (Scheme 1), it was impossible to measure their pK_a values directly in water. The pK_a values were directly measured in MeCN and in an octanol/water system (biphasic pK_a values). The latter measurement method is novel and was created in the framework of this thesis (work II).

The p K_a values in MeCN were measured by Märt Lõkov, Sahil Chhabra and Juhan Luik using a spectrophotometric titration method that has been described previously^{13,15,46,51}. Detailed information is presented in work I and III.

Due to the very low aqueous solubility of the compounds their aqueous pK_a values were estimated from pK_a values in MeCN via correlation analysis. The correlation equation is based on experimental MeCN and aqueous pK_a values (data from ref 11) of compounds having related molecular structures. A number of phenylphosphazenes were involved, some of them are also highly lipophilic in nature. The standard uncertainties of the aqueous pK_a values estimated this way are evaluated as 0.5 pK_a units^{1,III}.

2.2. Biphasic pK_a determination

2.2.1. Principle of the method

Proton transfer processes in two-phase systems – an organic water-immiscible solvent at equilibrium with water – are often encountered: biphasic catalysis⁴⁹, sensors with polymeric membranes⁵⁰ and processes in cell membranes²³. Direct pK_a measurement cannot be easily done in low-polarity media because of the difficulties with quantifying the activity of H⁺ in them.⁵⁵ The involved compounds have often low aqueous solubility. Therefore, it is impossible or impractical to use aqueous pK_a values.

In work II, for the first time, an experimental pK_a measurement method of lipophilic molecules in essentially water-immiscible solvents in equilibrium with aqueous solution is presented. The term biphasic pK_a values – denoted as pK_a^{ow} – is used for this approach. Similar approach has been envisaged before⁴⁸ but a respective measurement method has not been developed. The main principle of the method is that a lipophilic acid or base is dissolved in the organic phase and the ratio of its ionic and neutral form concentrations in the organic phase is measured, while the hydrogen ion activity (i.e. pH) is measured in the aqueous phase.

Solvated H^+ ions reside mainly in the aqueous layer. Therefore the processes of protonation and deprotonation of a base B are combined by transfer of some of the ions (H^+ or BH^+) through the phase boundary. The exchange of protons can occur in the aqueous as well as the water-saturated organic layer. The pK_a^{ow} values are independent from the exact mechanism of proton transfer, because chemical equilibrium is independent form the path how the system arrives to equilibrium. Very importantly – if the organic and aqueous phases are at equilibrium, the solvated proton's thermodynamic activities are equal in both phases. This is true even if the equilibrium concentrations of H^+ differ by orders of magnitude.⁵⁶ The two phases remain electroneutral because of the migration of the counterions A^- into the organic phase in the same extent as the base B is protonated. The ions in the organic phase are mostly ion-paired. The overall equilibrium can be written as follows ("O" and "W" are used to refer to the organic and aqueous phases, respectively):

$$(BH^{+}A^{-})_{0} \rightleftharpoons B_{0} + H^{+}_{W} + A^{-}_{W}$$
(1)

If the activity of counterion A⁻ and the ionic strength of the aqueous phase are constant and included in the standard state definition then the equilibrium constant K_a^{ow} can be expressed:

$$K_{a}^{ow} = \frac{a(B)_{O} \cdot a(H^{+})_{W}}{a(BH^{+}A^{-})_{O}} \qquad pK_{a}^{ow} = -\log K_{a}^{ow}$$
(2)

We assume here that $a(BH^+A^-)$ accounts for all of the BH^+ species in octanol, even if some of the them are present as free ions.

The nature and activity of the counterion A^- has significant influence on the pK_a^{ow} values. As demonstrated by equation (1) the higher the lipophilicity and activity of A^- the more the equilibrium shifts towards formation of BH⁺A⁻. This means that it is important that the identity and activity of A^- be defined when measuring pK_a^{ow} values. The anion A^- should be a sufficiently weak base to (1) avoid the distribution of its conjugate AH into the organic phase and (2) to ensure that [BH⁺A⁻] is indeed an ion pair, not an associate of neutral forms linked by hydrogen bond (B···H-A).

2.2.2. Experimental determination of pK_a^{ow}

The pK_a^{ow} values were determined for the bases **1a-d** and **4a-d** (Scheme 1). As a reference compound, phosphazene 4-NO₂-C₆H₄P₁(pyrr)¹¹ was used. It has somewhat different structure and its experimental aqueous pK_a value is known.

Octanol solutions (1.5 ml) of each base were equilibrated with aqueous phases (1.5 ml). The aqueous phases had different pH values by shaking for 1 min. Thereafter the mixture was allowed to stand for 20 min until the formed emulsion had stratified. Confirmation experiments were carried out allowing equilibration for up to 200 min, no difference was found in results. With every compound the measurements were carried out at 4 different concentrations (ranging from 3 to 43 μ mol L⁻¹). Three anions – chloride, bromide and *para*-toluenesulfonate – were used as counterions A⁻, at ionic strength 0.1 mol L⁻¹. Detailed information of solution preparation and experimental conditions are presented in work II.

After agitation the phases were separated and their absorption spectra were recorded spectrophotometrically. For calculating the pK_a^{ow} values a wavelength, where the difference of molar absorptivities of the neutral and protonated forms was maximum, was used (Table 1). Spectrophotometry measures concentrations

and not activities. Therefore, as a first step "concentration-based" pK_{ac}^{ow} values (equation 3) were calculated.

$$K_{\rm ac}^{\rm ow} = \frac{[{\rm B}]_{\rm O} \cdot a({\rm H}^+)_{\rm W}}{[{\rm B}{\rm H}^+]_{\rm O}} \qquad pK_{\rm ac}^{\rm ow} = -\log K_{\rm ac}^{\rm ow}$$
(3)

The pK_{ac}^{ow} values were calculated by least squares fitting of the experimental absorbance changes with ones calculated by equation 4, varying the pK_{ac}^{ow} values and the absorbance values corresponding to the neutral and cationic species (B and BH⁺).

$$A_{calc} = \frac{A_{\rm BH+}}{1+10^{\rm pK_{ac}^{\rm ow}-\rm pH}} + \frac{A_{\rm B} \cdot 10^{\rm pK_{ac}^{\rm ow}-\rm pH}}{1+10^{\rm pK_{ac}^{\rm ow}-\rm pH}}$$
(4)

For every base B the pK_{ac}^{ow} values were determined at 4 different concentrations C_i and it was discovered that their concentration dependence is considerable. The obtained data enabled finding the pK_a^{ow} values as intercepts on the basis of equation 5 by extrapolating the pK_{ac}^{ow} values to $C_i = 0 \text{ mol } L^{-1}$:

$$pK_{ac_{i}}^{ow} = pK_{a}^{ow} - A\sqrt{C_{i}}$$
⁽⁵⁾

According to the Debye-Hückel theory the slope A has to be the same for all bases in the same solvent. The value 40 was found for A for our conditions. The pK_a^{ow} values obtained from this data treatment are given in Table 1. The root mean square of residuals was 0.15 pK_a units.

2.3. Lipophilicity determination

As mentioned before the synthesized compounds/bases are highly lipophilic and their neutral forms are practically insoluble in water. Therefore, the direct measurement of the partition coefficient (P) values was impossible. Instead, the distribution coefficient (D) values were directly measured using an acidic aqueous phase. Ionization and ion-pair extraction were considered. The acidic aqueous phase provides sufficient solubility of the phosphazene bases due to protonation and ensures relatively constant pH of the aqueous phase that may otherwise be influenced by the ionization of the bases. The shake-flask method followed by chromatographic analysis (procedure based on ref 57) was used to measure the D values.

Two organic solvents were used, octanol and toluene. Octanol is certainly the most common solvent for lipophilicity studies and there are plenty of available data in the literature. Toluene is not so common solvent for these studies, however it allows to compare the log*P* values of the bases in an aromatic and an aliphatic solvent. The HCl solution (0.005 mol L⁻¹, pH = 2.30 or 0.01 mol L⁻¹,

pH = 2.0) was used as the acidic aqueous phase. The HCl solution and organic phase containing the dissolved base (6.6 – 125 µg) were transferred into vials to perform liquid-liquid extractions. Phases were mixed about 1.5 – 2 hours using an orbital shaker. Distribution ratios were measured by reverse phase (C18) HPLC with UV-Vis detection.

Distribution coefficients of bases were calculated from the ratios of the corresponding peak areas A taking into account the difference of injection volumes V (equation 6).

$$D = \frac{A_{org} \cdot V_{W}}{A_{W} \cdot V_{org}} \tag{6}$$

Considerable amounts of bases partitioned into the organic phase as ion pairs, due to the high lipophilicities of the phosphazene cations and abundance of Cl^- ions in solution. Therefore it was not possible to assume negligible concentrations of ions in the organic phase – a frequent assumption in such studies. The log*P* values were calculated according to the following equation:

$$P = \frac{D\left(1 + \frac{[H^{+}]_{aq}}{K_{a}}\right)}{1 + \frac{[MH^{+}]_{org}}{[M]_{org}}}$$
(7)

The directly measured distribution ratios are denoted by D. The concentration ratios of cationic and neutral forms of the phosphazenes in the organic phase $([MH^+]_{org}/[M]_{org})$ were estimated from the UV-Vis spectra.

The pK_a values were estimated from correlation analysis with MeCN pK_a values. The $[H^+]_{aq}$ values were measured in the aqueous phase using the glass electrode, after extraction. Each log*P* value in Table 1 is an average of at least two measurements carried out on different days.

2.4. Synthesis

The Staudinger reaction was used to prepare phosphazenes 1a-4d (Scheme 1), of which 15 have been synthesized for the first time, compound 2a was previously reported by Katti et al.⁵⁸ For compounds 1a, 1b, 1d and 2a the Kirsanov reaction was also attempted, since the Kirsanov reaction was widely used in our group before²⁰, however it did not give the desired compounds. Detailed information about reaction conditions, NMR, HRMS and IR spectra are presented in work I (for compounds 1a-3d) and III (for compounds 4a-4d).



Scheme 1: Synthesis of the iminophosphoranes 1a-4d by the Staudinger reaction

Generally reactions of azides with trisubstituted phosphanes in dry toluene proceeded at 0 °C to room temperature, with visible evolution of nitrogen and resulting in direct formation of the iminophosphorane. In the case of some phosphazenes containing tripyrrolidinophosphane **1d**, **2d**, **3d**, a higher temperature 50–60 °C was required. The Staudinger reaction proceeds via nucleophilic attack at the phosphane by the terminal nitrogen of the azide to afford an intermediate (linear phosphazide), that is usually not detectable (explored in work I), which then rapidly dissociates to products via a four-center transition state.¹⁴

Two methods were used for preparation of starting azides from commercially available corresponding amines. Azide 1, 4-azidoazobenzene, was synthesized in high yield in a one-pot reaction (Scheme 2) according to the procedure described by Kutonova et al.^{59–61}



Scheme 2: Preparation of 4-azidoazobenzene (azide 1)

The preparation of azides 2 (4-azido-4'-nitroazobenzene), 3 (4-azido-4'-(N,N-dimethyl)aminoazobenzene) and 4 (7-azido-4-(trifluoromethyl)coumarin) according to the reaction in Scheme 2 was not successful, therefore the other common method to prepare azides was used (Scheme 3).⁵⁸



Scheme 3: Preparation of 4-azido-4'-nitroazobenzene (azide 2), 4-azido-4'-(N,N-dimethyl)aminoazobenzene (azide 3) and 7-azido-4-(trifluoromethyl)coumarin (azide 4)

Pyrrolidino- and phenyl-substituents were used for the preparation of the phosphanes from Ph_nPCl_{3-n} (n=0,1,2,3) and pyrrolidine as described in refs 62,63.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This section discusses the results of all experimental measurements presented in Table 1. 16 novel phosphazene bases were synthesized and characterized.

Compound	mp (°C)	$\lambda_{abs}(nm)$ BH ⁺ /B/A	$\lambda_{ m em}\left({ m nm} ight)^{a}{ m BH}^{+}/{ m B}/{ m A}$	Stokes shift (nm) RH ⁺ /R/A	Fluorescence lifetime (ns)	pK _a MeCN ^b	pKa H ₂ O ^c	$\mathbf{pK}_{\mathbf{a}}^{\mathrm{ow}d}$	$\log P$ oct/w e	$\log P$ to l/w^e
	167.6– 168.4	336/410/74				15.6	7.7	4.3	7.2	8.4
	135.9– 136.8	340/411/71	ı	ı	ı	16.8	8.4	5.4	7.1	8.0
	115.6– 117.2	342/415/73	ı	ı	ı	18.4	9.2	6.7	7.7	7.1

Table 1: Summary table of all results and structures of the synthesized compounds developed within this thesis

Compound	mp (°C)	λ_{abs} (nm) BH ⁺ /B/ Λ	$\lambda_{ m em} \left({ m nm} ight)^a { m BH}^+ / { m B} / \Delta$	Stokes shift (nm) BH ⁺ /B/A	Fluorescence lifetime (ns)	pK _a MeCN ^b	pK_a H ₂ O ^c	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{a}}^{\mathrm{ow}\ d}$	log <i>P</i> oct/w ^e	$\log P$ tol/w ^e
Id	145.4– 146.0	347/428/81	ı	I	ı	20.2	10.2	8.2	8.5	5.4
Q _N C	202.3- 203.4	362/480/118	1	ı	I	14.9	7.3	I	7.8	9.2
^{O2N} N ^N N ^N N ^N N ^N Sb	128.0– 129.9	365/483/118	,	ı	ı	16.2	8.0	I	7.2	9.1
2c 2c	138.1–	365/492/127	·	ı	ı	17.7	8.9	I	7.3	7.9

$\log P$ to l/w^{e}	6.1	8.0	7.3	6.3
log <i>P</i> oct/w ^e	7.9	7.5	7.8	8.6
$\mathbf{p} \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{a}}^{\mathrm{ow}d}$	I	I	I	ı
pK_a H ₂ O ^c	9.8	8.0	8.7	9.5
pK _a MeCN ^b	19.5	16.2	17.4	18.9
Fluorescence lifetime (ns)		ı	ı	ı
Stokes shift (nm) BH ⁺ /B/A	ı	ı	ı	ı
$\lambda_{ m em}\left({ m nm} ight)^a{ m BH}^+/{ m B}/\Delta$	ı	ı	ı	ı
$\lambda_{abs}(nm)$ BH ⁺ /B/A	371/512/141	539/423/116	543/423/120	548/423/125
mp (°C)	146.1– 146.8	227.5– 228.5	179.5– 180.9	134.6– 135.8
Compound	O ₂ N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	(HGC)2N C N N N N P N P N P N P N P N P N P N	(H5CPAN C N, N C N, P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	(H ₅ C _P N N, N, N

$\log P$ tol/w e	5.3	7.3	7.2
log <i>P</i> oct/w ^e	9.5′	6.5	6.2
$\mathbf{pK}_{\mathrm{a}}^{\mathrm{ow}\ d}$	ı	1.8	3.2
pK _a H ₂ O ^c	10.6	6.8	7.5
pK _a MeCN ^b	20.8	13.9	15.2
Fluorescence lifetime (ns)	I	2.4	3.2
Stokes shift (nm) BH ⁺ /B/A	I	67/98/31	74/104/30
$\lambda_{\rm em} \left({\rm nm} ight)^a { m BH}^+/{ m B}/{ m A}$	ı	397/486/89	402/497/95
λ _{abs} (nm) BH ⁺ /B/Δ	539/419/120	330/388/58	328/393/65
mp (°C)	120.9– 123.1	165.6– 166.4	127.0– 127.6
Compound	(H5C)-M (N, N, N	4a 4a	4b

$\log P$ tol/w e	6.2	4.0
log <i>P</i> oct/w ^e	5.9	9.9
$\mathbf{pK}_{\mathrm{a}}^{\mathrm{ow}\ d}$	4.7	5.9
pK_a H_2O^c	8.4	9.3
pK _a MeCN ^b	16.9	18.6
Fluorescence lifetime (ns)	3.9	3.6
Stokes shift (nm) BH ⁺ /B/A	75/109/34	74/113/39
$\lambda_{\rm em} \left(nm \right)^a { m BH}^+ / { m B} / \Lambda$	406/508/102	406/521/115
λ _{abs} (nm) BH ⁺ /B/Δ	331/399/68	332/408/76
mp (°C)	134.7– 135.5	121.8– 122.8
Compound	4c	4d 4d 4d

^{*a*} Fluorescence emission properties are reported for spectra excited at the respective absorption maxima wavelengths for the neutral and cationic forms of the compounds. ^{*b*} Experimental p_{K_a} values in acetonitrile from work I and III. ^{*c*} Estimated aqueous $p_{K_a}^{r}$ values. ^{*d*} Experimental pK_a^{ow} values from work II and III, counterion Cl⁻ e Log*P* values estimated from directly measured log*D* values.⁵ Value with high uncertainty, see the ESI of work I.

3.1. Spectral properties

Both the neutral and cationic forms of all the synthesized compounds have absorbance bands in the visible spectral range. In the case of unsubstituted **1a-d**, 4-nitro-substituted **2a-d** and coumarin based **4a-d** compounds, remarkable shifts of the absorbance bands toward the UV end of the absorption spectrum (blue shift) were observed upon protonation of the neutral compound. In the case of 4-dimethylamino-substituted **3a-d** compounds the absorption maxima displayed shifts to longer wavelengths (red shift) upon protonation.

Replacing the phenyl group that is attached to the phosphorus atom with pyrrolidino groups a red shift was observed with all the compound series. In addition, the distance between the absorption peak maxima of the neutral and cationic forms also increases when the phenyl groups are replaced by the pyrrolidino groups, which in fact is an anticipated and welcome characteristic.^{13,64} Pronounced spectral differences in the visible region are characteristic of all synthesized phosphazene bases and their conjugate acids, therefore it is possible to use them as acid-base indicators.

Compounds **4a-d** are strongly fluorescent dyes. As mentioned before, many applications require relatively small lipophilic molecules that exhibit strong fluorescence and additional photophysical features. In the case of compounds **4a-d** the fluorescence emission peak maxima are located at wavelengths near ~500 nm (Table 1). Upon protonation of the neutral base we can see an interesting and useful feature, the emission maxima display substantial blueshifts ($\Delta\lambda \approx 100$ nm). The fluorescence emission maxima are shifted to longer wavelengths by the sequential replacement of phenyl groups attached to the phosphorus atom by pyrrolidino groups. The replacement also increases the difference between the wavelengths of the emission maxima is a highly welcome characteristic in the described shift in emission maxima is a highly welcome characteristic in the design of fluorescent indicator based sensors. Stokes shifts also increase (and are more apparent in the neutral compounds) with sequential replacement by pyrrolidino groups (Figure 1).

Besides the wavelength shifts of the emission bands, the emission intensities of the forms differ markedly and have different optimal excitation wavelengths. When the wavelength of the absorbance maximum of the neutral form is used for excitation, then a significant decrease in fluorescence intensity occurs upon protonation (Figure 2).

Fluorescence lifetime of the compounds is short, between 2.4 and 3.9 ns. Oxygen quenches fluorescence effectively and in general it is important to deoxygenate (purging with nitrogen or using an ultrasound bath) all used solvents.⁵³ Generally, when the fluorescence lifetime is below 5 ns the quenching by oxygen does not have a significant effect.^{53,54}

All the absorbance and emission spectra are presented in supplementary information of works I and III.



Figure 1: Compounds 4a-d in MeCN under an UV lamp (365 nm)



Figure 2: Fluorescence emission spectra of **4c** at excitation of 400 nm and 332 nm. Spectra displayed with solid lines represent spectra that were collected at their respective absorption maxima wavelengths for the neutral (B) and cationic (BH⁺) forms of the compounds. All emission spectra have been IFE corrected.

3.2. Basicity

The p K_a values of the bases in MeCN range from 13.9 to 20.8 (Table 1). Based on the presented results it is evident that the basicity depends strongly on the number of pyrrolidino groups bound to the phosphorus atom. Adding one pyrrolidino group instead of an initial phenyl ring leads to an increase of basicity by 1.2 to 1.9 p K_a units. Comparing the bases **1a-3d** it is noticeable that the basicity is also dependent on the 4-substituents on the phenyl ring. Introducing the (-R) nitro group decreases the basicity of the compound by 0.6–0.7 p K_a units. Introducing the (+R) dimethylamino group increases the basicity by 0.5–0.6 p K_a units. Thus, the number of pyrrolidino groups have a greater impact on p K_a value.

The pK_a estimates in water range from 6.8 to 10.6 and follow the trend of pK_a values in MeCN.

The pK_a^{ow} values were obtained for compound series **1a-d & 4a-d** and range from 1.8 to 8.2 pK_a^{ow} units (Table 1) using Cl⁻ as counterion. The pK_a^{ow} values follow the trend of pK_a values in MeCN and pK_a estimates in water. pK_a^{ow} values are 5.0 (**4a**) to 2.0 (**1d**) units lower than the pK_a estimates in water. The pK_a difference largely comes from different levels of stabilization of the cationic forms of the indicators in the organic phase, relative to the aqueous solution. The less stabilized is the cationic form, the larger is the pK_a difference. It is evident from the results that increasing the aromatic nature of the bases (by adding more phenyl rings) decreases the affinity of the protonated bases towards octanol.

As mentioned before it is important to define the nature and activity of the counterion A^- , since it affects the pK_a^{ow} value. Table 2 displays clearly that biphasic pK_a value is strongly dependent on the counterion A^- . The more lipophilic is A^- the higher is the value of pK_a^{ow} and the smaller is the difference between pK_a^{ow} and aqueous pK_a . Higher lipophilicity and activity of counterion A^- both promote formation of BH⁺A⁻ and that is the reason why higher pK_a^{ow} value is obtained.

Compound	pK _a ^{ow}	Counterion A ⁻
1a	4.3 ^{<i>a</i>}	Cl^-
1a	4.5 ^b	Br^-
1 a	6.1 ^{<i>b</i>}	<i>p</i> -TsO [−]

Table 2: Impact of the counterion on pKaow value

^{*a*} Values obtained from a measurement series at 4 concentrations. ^{*b*} Tentative values obtained from a measurement series at one concentration.

3.3. Lipophilicity

The aim was to synthesize lipophilic bases and in addition their protonated forms should be also lipophilic. Table 1 shows the partition coefficients of the indicators in two solvent combinations: octanol/water and toluene/water. High lipophilicity of the synthesized compounds is clearly evident from the logP values. The number of pyrrolidino and phenyl fragments bound to the phosphorus atom influences the logP values markedly. The changes of lipophilicity within compound series depend on the number of pyrrolidino and phenyl groups in the molecules and differ between octanol and toluene.

In toluene, lipophilicity increases when the number of phenyl groups increases (and the number of pyrrolidino groups decreases) in the molecule and the span of $\log P$ values is 3.3 log units. In octanol/water system the trend is not as pronounced but the span of $\log P$ values are 2.0 log units.

Compounds with three pyrrolidino groups are the most lipophilic ones in octanol/water system. At the same time these compounds have the lowest lipophilicity in toluene/water system. The reason is the higher polarity of the phenyl ring compared to the alkyl moiety of the pyrrolidino group. Also, interaction of the nitrogen atom in pyrrolidino group with water molecules is sterically hindered by the neighboring substituents. Thus the phenyl groups turn out to be more polar, and favor partition into the aqueous phase in the case of the octanol/water system. If the organic phase is toluene, then there is quite some influence from the π - π interactions between the aromatic rings of the phosphazenes and the solvent, which is absent in the case of octanol.

Both forms, protonated and neutral, of the synthesized compounds are highly lipophilic and these compounds are suitable to use as indicators in low polar membranes.

SUMMARY

The aim of this thesis was to design and synthesize a family of novel lipophilic phosphazene-based indicators – active both via visible absorption and fluorescence – and to create an original method for quantifying acidity/basicity of lipophilic molecules in practically water-immiscible solvents (biphasic pK_a values). 16 novel phosphazene-bases have been synthesized using the Staudinger reaction and fully characterized. They are distinguished from other well-known indicator molecules by useful and unusual combination of properties, which are advantageous in the design of optical pH sensors. They have 0/+1 charge states and it was shown that both forms of these phosphazenes are highly lipophilic, thus lack of any localized charges in the respective cations. Therefore the synthesized compounds are well suited for acting as "silent spectators" in monitoring the acidity/basicity of different low-polarity systems.

 pK_a values of the phosphazenes are in the basic range. To describe and quantify the basicity/acidity of lipophilic indicator molecules embedded in non-polar system that is at equilibrium with aqueous phase a novel approach biphasic pK_{a} , is for the first time experimentally realized in this work. Importantly, the method is suitable to describe the acidity/basicity of indicator molecules in non-polar polymer matrix, since the pK_a value in the polymer matrix is different from the pK_a value in a solvent.

It was shown that these compounds show the desired spectral sensitivity to the pH of the environment. All synthesized compounds displayed absorbances in the visible spectral range and a shift of the absorbance band upon protonation of the neutral compound. Four of them have fluorescence emission maxima that also display substantial blue-shifts upon protonation of the neutral compound. In addition to the emission wavelength shifts, the absorbance extinction coefficients and maxima wavelengths also differ between the neutral and protonated forms of the compounds.

In conclusion, the synthesized compounds have all the desired and suitable properties to employ them in the design of optical pH sensor.

REFERENCES

- Wencel, D.; Kaworek, A.; Abel, T.; Efremov, V.; Bradford, A.; Carthy, D.; Coady, G.; McMorrow, R. C. N.; McDonagh, C. Small 2018, 14 (51), 1803627.
- (2) Gillies, R. J.; Lynch, R. M. Frontiers in the Measurement of Cell and Tissue PH. In *Novartis Foundation Symposia*; Goode, J. A., Chadwick, D. J., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: Chichester, UK, 2008; pp 7–22.
- (3) Markosyan, R. M.; Miao, C.; Zheng, Y.-M.; Melikyan, G. B.; Liu, S.-L.; Cohen, F. S. PLOS Pathog. 2016, 12 (1), e1005373.
- (4) Calmano, W.; Hong, J.; Foerstner, U. Water Sci. Technol. 1993, 28 (8–9), 223– 235.
- (5) Caldeira, K.; Wickett, M. E. Nature 2003, 425 (6956), 365-365.
- (6) Wolfbeis, O. S. Fiber Optic Chemical Sensors and Biosensors, Ed.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, 1991.
- (7) Wencel, D.; Abel, T.; McDonagh, C. Anal. Chem. 2014, 86 (1), 15–29.
- (8) Capel-Cuevas, S.; Cuéllar, M. P.; de Orbe-Payá, I.; Pegalajar, M. C.; Capitán-Vallvey, L. F. Anal. Chim. Acta 2010, 681 (1–2), 71–81.
- (9) Narayanaswamy, R.; Wolfbeis, O. S. *Optical Sensors*; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2004.
- (10) Gotor, R.; Ashokkumar, P.; Hecht, M.; Keil, K.; Rurack, K. Anal. Chem. 2017, 89 (16), 8437–8444.
- (11) Sooväli, L.; Rodima, T.; Kaljurand, I.; Kütt, A.; Koppel, I. A.; Leito, I. Org Biomol Chem 2006, 4 (11), 2100–2105.
- (12) Schwesinger, R.; Schlemper, H.; Hasenfratz, C.; Willaredt, J.; Dambacher, T.; Breuer, T.; Ottaway, C.; Fletschinger, M.; Boele, J.; Fritz, H.; et al. *Liebigs Ann.* **1996**, No. 7, 1055–1081.
- (13) Kaljurand, I.; Rodima, T.; Leito, I.; Koppel, I. A.; Schwesinger, R. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65 (19), 6202–6208.
- (14) Johnson, A. W. Ylides and Imines of Phosphorus; Wiley: New York, 1993.
- (15) Rodima, T.; Kaljurand, I.; Pihl, A.; Mäemets, V.; Leito, I.; Koppel, I. A. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67 (6), 1873–1881.
- (16) Khan, R. U.; Wang, L.; Yu, H.; Zain-ul-Abdin; Akram, M.; Wu, J.; Haroon, M.; Ullah, R. S.; Deng, Z.; Xia, X. *Russ. Chem. Rev.* **2018**, 87 (2), 109–150.
- (17) Tümer, Y.; Asmafiliz, N.; Arslan, G.; Kılıç, Z.; Hökelek, T. J. Mol. Struct. 2019, 1181, 235–243.
- (18) Saame, J.; Rodima, T.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Kütt, A.; Kaljurand, I.; Haljasorg, T.; Koppel, I. A.; Leito, I. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 81 (17), 7349–7361.
- (19) Kaupmees, K.; Trummal, A.; Leito, I. Croat. Chem. Acta 2014, 87 (4), 385–395.
- (20) Rodima, T.; Mäemets, V.; Koppel, I. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin 1 2000, No. 16, 2637– 2644.
- (21) Bates, R. G. Determination of PH: Theory and Practice, 2d ed.; Wiley: New York, 1973.
- (22) Kattipparambil Rajan, D.; Patrikoski, M.; Verho, J.; Sivula, J.; Ihalainen, H.; Miettinen, S.; Lekkala, J. *Talanta* 2016, *161*, 755–761.
- (23) Lane, N.; Martin, W. F. Cell 2012, 151 (7), 1406–1416.
- (24) Shamsipur, M.; Abbasitabar, F.; Zare-Shahabadi, V.; Shahabadi; Akhond, M. Anal. Lett. 2008, 41 (17), 3113–3123.
- (25) Ferrari, L.; Rovati, L.; Fabbri, P.; Pilati, F. Sensors 2012, 13 (1), 484-499.
- (26) Han, J.; Burgess, K. Chem. Rev. 2010, 110 (5), 2709–2728.

- (27) Lobnik, A.; Oehme, I.; Murkovic, I.; Wolfbeis, O. S. Anal. Chim. Acta 1998, 367 (1-3), 159–165.
- (28) Shi, W.; He, S.; Wei, M.; Evans, D. G.; Duan, X. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2010, 20 (22), 3856–3863.
- (29) Rouhani, S.; Salimi, S.; Haghbeen, K. Dyes Pigments 2008, 77 (2), 363-368.
- (30) Giaginis, C.; Tsantili-Kakoulidou, A. J. Pharm. Sci. 2008, 97 (8), 2984–3004.
- (31) Hou, T. J.; Xu, X. J. J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 2003, 43 (6), 2137-2152.
- (32) Rydberg, J., Ed.; M. Dekker. *Solvent Extraction Principles and Practice*, 2nd ed., rev. and expanded. New York, **2004**.
- (33) Hansch, C.; Leo, A.; Mekapati, S. B.; Kurup, A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2004, 12 (12), 3391–3400.
- (34) Ma, L. Y.; Wang, H. Y.; Xie, H.; Xu, L. X. Spectrochim. Acta. A. Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc. 2004, 60 (8–9), 1865–1872.
- (35) Hecht, M.; Kraus, W.; Rurack, K. The Analyst 2013, 138 (1), 325–332.
- (36) Xu, H.; Sadik, O. A. The Analyst 2000, 125 (10), 1783-1786.
- (37) Seddon, A. M.; Casey, D.; Law, R. V.; Gee, A.; Templer, R. H.; Ces, O. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2009, 38 (9), 2509.
- (38) Artursson, P.; Palm, K.; Luthman, K. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 2001, 46 (1-3), 27-43.
- (39) Milanetti, E.; Raimondo, D.; Tramontano, A. *Bioinformatics* 2016, 32 (8), 1163– 1169.
- (40) Shalaeva, M.; Caron, G.; Abramov, Y. A.; O'Connell, T. N.; Plummer, M. S.; Yalamanchi, G.; Farley, K. A.; Goetz, G. H.; Philippe, L.; Shapiro, M. J. J. Med. Chem. 2013, 56 (12), 4870–4879.
- (41) Reijenga, J.; van Hoof, A.; van Loon, A.; Teunissen, B. Anal. Chem. Insights 2013, 8, ACI.S12304.
- (42) Parman, E.; Toom, L.; Selberg, S.; Leito, I. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2019, e3940. https://doi.org/10.1002/poc.3940.
- (43) Kütt, A.; Selberg, S.; Kaljurand, I.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Heering, A.; Darnell, A.; Kaupmees, K.; Piirsalu, M.; Leito, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2018**, *59* (42), 3738–3748.
- (44) Streitwieser, A., Taft, R. W., Eds.; Progress in Physical Organic Chemistry; John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 1967.
- (45) Lõkov, M. Basicity of Some Nitrogen, Phosphorus and Carbon Bases in Acetonitrile, University of Tartu: Tartu, **2018**.
- (46) Leito, I.; Rodima, T.; Koppel, I. A.; Schwesinger, R.; Vlasov, V. M. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62 (24), 8479–8483.
- (47) Lõkov, M.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Heering, A.; Plieger, P. G.; Vianello, R.; Leito, I. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017 (30), 4475–4489.
- (48) Avdeef, A. *Absorption and Drug Development: Solubility, Permeability, and Charge State*, 2nd ed.; John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, N.J, **2012**.
- (49) Ooi, T.; Maruoka, K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46 (23), 4222-4266.
- (50) Martin, K.; Nõges, J.; Haav, K.; Kadam, S. A.; Pung, A.; Leito, I. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017 (35), 5231–5237.
- (51) Kaljurand, I.; Rodima, T.; Pihl, A.; Mäemets, V.; Leito, I.; Koppel, I. A.; Mishima, M. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68 (26), 9988–9993.
- (52) Kristoffersen, A. S.; Erga, S. R.; Hamre, B.; Frette, Ø. J. Fluoresc. 2014, 24 (4), 1015–1024.
- (53) Pagano, T.; Carcamo, N.; Kenny, J. E. J. Phys. Chem. A 2014, 118 (49), 11512– 11520.

- (54) Vencel, T.; Donovalová, J.; Gáplovský, A.; Kimura, T.; Toma, S. Chem. Pap.-Slovak Acad. Sci. 2005, 59 (4), 271–274.
- (55) Paenurk, E.; Kaupmees, K.; Himmel, D.; Kütt, A.; Kaljurand, I.; Koppel, I. A.; Krossing, I.; Leito, I. Chem. Sci. 2017, 8 (10), 6964–6973.
- (56) Himmel, D.; Goll, S. K.; Leito, I.; Krossing, I. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49 (38), 6885–6888.
- (57) Huber, U. Determination of Octanol-Water Partition Coefficients Using the Agilent 220 Micro Plate Sampler; Agilent Inc., 2000; Vol. Publication Number 5980-0493E.
- (58) Katti, K. V.; Raghuraman, K.; Pillarsetty, N.; Karra, S. R.; Gulotty, R. J.; Chartier, M. A.; Langhoff, C. A. Chem. Mater. 2002, 14 (6), 2436–2438.
- (59) Griffiths, J.; McDarmaid, R. I. J. Soc. Dye. Colour. 1978, 94 (2), 65-70.
- (60) Kutonova, K.; Trusova, M.; Postnikov, P.; Filimonov, V.; Parello, J. Synthesis 2013, 45 (19), 2706–2710.
- (61) Scriven, E. F. V.; Turnbull, K. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88 (2), 297-368.
- (62) Burg, A. B.; Slota, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958, 80, 1107-1109.
- (63) Clarke, M. L.; Holliday, G. L.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Woollins, J. D. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 2002, No. 6, 1093–1103.
- (64) Selberg, S.; Rodima, T.; Lõkov, M.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Haljasorg, T.; Chhabra, S.; Kadam, S. A.; Toom, L.; Vahur, S.; Leito, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2017, 58 (22), 2098–2102.

SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Lipofiilsete fosfaseenidel baseeruvate indikaatormolekulide süntees ja eksperimentaalsed omadused

Käesoleva doktoritöö peamiseks eesmärgiks oli luua grupp uudseid fosfaseenidel baseeruvaid indikaatormolekule, mille vaba aluse ja protoneeritud vormi spektrid oleksid võimalikult erinevad ja asuksid nähtavas spektrialas või fluorestseeriksid. Lisaks töötati doktoritöö raames välja uudne meetod lipofiilsete molekulide happelisuse/aluselisuse kvantiseerimiseks kahefaasilistes süsteemides. Staudinger'i reaktsiooni kasutades valmistati 16 fosfaseenidel baseeruvat ühendit ning määrati nende omadused. Neid ühendeid eristab teistest teada-tuntud indikaatormolekulidest ebatavaline omaduste kombinatsioon, mis on kasulik optiliste pH-sensorite loomisel. Töös näidati, et sünteesitud ühendite neutraalsed ja katioonsed vormid on kõrgete lipofiilsustega ja katioonidel puudub selgelt väljendunud laengutsenter. Käesolevad struktuurid on sobilikud erinevate madala polaarsusega süsteemide happelisuse/aluselisuse monitoorimiseks, sest kirjeldatud omadustega ühendid käituvad sellistes süsteemides kui "vaiksed pealtvaatajad".

Doktoritöö raames määrati sünteesitud ühendite pK_a väärtused atsetonitriilis. Lipofiilsete molekulide happelisuse/aluselisuse kvantiseerimiseks süsteemides, kus vesilahus on tasakaalus veega mitteseguneva keskkonnaga/solvendiga, töötati välja uudne meetod – kahefaasiline pK_a – mida varem eksperimentaalselt rakendatud pole. Meetod sobib indikaatormolekuli happelisuse/aluselisuse kirjeldamiseks madala polaarsusega polümeermembraanis, sest indikaatormolekuli pK_a väärtus polümeermembraanis võib märgatavalt erineda pK_a väärtusest lahuses. Näidati, et sünteesitud ühendid omavad soovitud spektraalset tundlikust keskkonna pH muutuse suhtes. Kõik ühendid neelavad nähtavas spektrialas ja protoneerumisel toimub selge neeldumisspektri muutus. Neli ühendit omavad intensiivset maksimumi fluorestsentsispektris, mille asukoht ja intensiivsus muutuvad protoneerumisel.

Kokkuvõtteks võib väita, et sünteesitud ühendid on sobivate omadustega, et neid rakendada optiliste pH-sensorite loomisel.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my mentor professor Ivo Leito for the supervision, guidance and support throughout all these years. I thank Toomas Rodima for instructing me in the synthesis of phosphazenes. I am very grateful to professor Todd Pagano (Rochester Institute of Technology, USA) for his invaluable help in fluorescence measurements and data analysis. I would like to thank Märt Lõkov, Juhan Luik and Sahil Chhabra for helping me with the pK_a measurements in MeCN. I would also like to express my gratitude to my colleagues from the Chair of Analytical Chemistry and my co-authors, especially Sofja Tšepelevitš for her invaluable suggestions and comments on preparing the manuscripts as well as help with lipophilicity measurements.

This work was supported by the EU through the European Regional Development Fund (TK141 "Advanced materials and high-technology devices for energy recuperation systems"), by the institutional research grant IUT20-14 from the Estonian Research Council and by the EMPIR programme (project 17FUN09, UnipHied) co-financed by the Participating States and from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme. This work was carried out using the instrumentation at the Estonian Center of Analytical Chemistry (www.akki.ee).

PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Sigrid Selberg
Date of birth:	August 8, 1991, Kuressaare, Estonia
Citizenship:	Estonia
Contact:	Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu, Ravila 14a, Tartu,
	50411, Estonia
E-mail:	sigrid.selberg@ut.ee

Education:

2015–	University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry, PhD student
2013-2015	University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry, M.Sc. (Chemistry)
2010-2013	University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry, B.Sc. (Chemistry)

Professional employment:

08.2017 – Chemist, University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry

Scientific publications:

- Selberg, S.; Rodima, T.; Lõkov, M.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Haljasorg, T.; Chhabra, S.; Kadam, S.A.; Toom, L; Vahur, S.; Leito, I. Synthesis and properties of highly lipophilic phosphazene bases. *Tetrahedron Letters* 2017, 58 (22), 2098–2102, DOI: 10.1016/j.tetlet.2017.04.039.
- Kütt, A.; Selberg, S.; Kaljurand, I.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Heering, A.; Darnell, A.; Kaupmees, K.; Piirsalu, M.; Leito, I. pKa values in organic chemistry – Making maximum use of the available data. *Tetrahedron Letters* 2018, 59 (42), 3738–3748, DOI: 10.1016/j.tetlet.2018.08.054.
- 3. Selberg, S.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Leito, I. Biphasic pKa values. *Croatica Chemica Acta* 2019, 91 (4), 1–4, DOI: 10.5562/cca3405.
- 4. Selberg, S.; Pagano, T.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Haljasorg, T.; Vahur, S.; Luik, J.; Saame, J.; Leito, I. Synthesis and photophysics of a series of lipophilic phosphazene-based fluorescent indicators. *Journal of Physical Organic Chemistry* **2019**, DOI: 10.1002/poc.3950.
- 5. Parman, E.; Toom, L.; Selberg, S.; Leito, I. Determination of pK_a values of fluorocompounds in water using ¹⁹F NMR. *Journal of Physical Organic Chemistry* **2019**, DOI: 10.1002/poc.3940.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Sigrid Selberg
Sünniaeg:	8. august 1991, Kuressaare, Eesti
Kodakondsus:	Eesti
Kontakt:	Tartu Ülikool keemia instituut, Ravila 14a, Tartu, 50411, Eesti
E-post:	sigrid.selberg@ut.ee

Haridus:

2015–	Tartu Ülikool, keemia eriala doktoriõpe
2013-2015	Tartu Ülikool, Keemia instituut, magistriõpe (keemia)
2010–2013	Tartu Ülikool, Keemia instituut, bakalaureuseõpe (keemia)

Töökogemus:

08.2017– Tartu Ülikool, keemik

Teaduspublikatsioonid:

- Selberg, S.; Rodima, T.; Lõkov, M.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Haljasorg, T.; Chhabra, S.; Kadam, S.A.; Toom, L; Vahur, S.; Leito, I. Synthesis and properties of highly lipophilic phosphazene bases. *Tetrahedron Letters* 2017, 58 (22), 2098–2102, DOI: 10.1016/j.tetlet.2017.04.039.
- Kütt, A.; Selberg, S.; Kaljurand, I.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Heering, A.; Darnell, A.; Kaupmees, K.; Piirsalu, M.; Leito, I. pKa values in organic chemistry – Making maximum use of the available data. *Tetrahedron Letters* 2018, 59 (42), 3738-3748, DOI: 10.1016/j.tetlet.2018.08.054.
- 3. Selberg, S.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Leito, I. Biphasic pKa values. Croatica Chemica Acta 2019, 91 (4), 1-4, DOI: 10.5562/cca3405.
- 4. Selberg, S.; Pagano, T.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Haljasorg, T.; Vahur, S.; Luik, J.; Saame, J.; Leito, I. Synthesis and photophysics of a series of lipophilic phosphazene-based fluorescent indicators. *Journal of Physical Organic Chemistry* **2019**, DOI: 10.1002/poc.3950.
- 5. Parman, E.; Toom, L.; Selberg, S.; Leito, I. Determination of pK_a values of fluorocompounds in water using ¹⁹F NMR. *Journal of Physical Organic Chemistry* **2019**, DOI: 10.1002/poc.3940.

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. **Toomas Tamm.** Quantum-chemical simulation of solvent effects. Tartu, 1993, 110 p.
- 2. **Peeter Burk.** Theoretical study of gas-phase acid-base equilibria. Tartu, 1994, 96 p.
- 3. Victor Lobanov. Quantitative structure-property relationships in large descriptor spaces. Tartu, 1995, 135 p.
- 4. Vahur Mäemets. The ¹⁷O and ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance study of H₂O in individual solvents and its charged clusters in aqueous solutions of electrolytes. Tartu, 1997, 140 p.
- 5. Andrus Metsala. Microcanonical rate constant in nonequilibrium distribution of vibrational energy and in restricted intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution on the basis of slater's theory of unimolecular reactions. Tartu, 1997, 150 p.
- 6. Uko Maran. Quantum-mechanical study of potential energy surfaces in different environments. Tartu, 1997, 137 p.
- 7. Alar Jänes. Adsorption of organic compounds on antimony, bismuth and cadmium electrodes. Tartu, 1998, 219 p.
- 8. **Kaido Tammeveski.** Oxygen electroreduction on thin platinum films and the electrochemical detection of superoxide anion. Tartu, 1998, 139 p.
- 9. Ivo Leito. Studies of Brønsted acid-base equilibria in water and nonaqueous media. Tartu, 1998, 101 p.
- 10. **Jaan Leis.** Conformational dynamics and equilibria in amides. Tartu, 1998, 131 p.
- 11. **Toonika Rinken.** The modelling of amperometric biosensors based on oxidoreductases. Tartu, 2000, 108 p.
- 12. Dmitri Panov. Partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2000, 64 p.
- 13. Kaja Orupõld. Treatment and analysis of phenolic wastewater with microorganisms. Tartu, 2000, 123 p.
- 14. Jüri Ivask. Ion Chromatographic determination of major anions and cations in polar ice core. Tartu, 2000, 85 p.
- 15. Lauri Vares. Stereoselective Synthesis of Tetrahydrofuran and Tetrahydropyran Derivatives by Use of Asymmetric Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons and Ring Closure Reactions. Tartu, 2000, 184 p.
- 16. **Martin Lepiku.** Kinetic aspects of dopamine D₂ receptor interactions with specific ligands. Tartu, 2000, 81 p.
- 17. **Katrin Sak.** Some aspects of ligand specificity of P2Y receptors. Tartu, 2000, 106 p.
- 18. **Vello Pällin.** The role of solvation in the formation of iotsitch complexes. Tartu, 2001, 95 p.
- 19. Katrin Kollist. Interactions between polycyclic aromatic compounds and humic substances. Tartu, 2001, 93 p.

- 20. **Ivar Koppel.** Quantum chemical study of acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids. Tartu, 2001, 104 p.
- 21. Viljar Pihl. The study of the substituent and solvent effects on the acidity of OH and CH acids. Tartu, 2001, 132 p.
- 22. **Natalia Palm.** Specification of the minimum, sufficient and significant set of descriptors for general description of solvent effects. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 23. Sulev Sild. QSPR/QSAR approaches for complex molecular systems. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 24. **Ruslan Petrukhin.** Industrial applications of the quantitative structureproperty relationships. Tartu, 2001, 162 p.
- 25. **Boris V. Rogovoy.** Synthesis of (benzotriazolyl)carboximidamides and their application in relations with *N* and *S*-nucleophyles. Tartu, 2002, 84 p.
- 26. Koit Herodes. Solvent effects on UV-vis absorption spectra of some solvatochromic substances in binary solvent mixtures: the preferential solvation model. Tartu, 2002, 102 p.
- 27. Anti Perkson. Synthesis and characterisation of nanostructured carbon. Tartu, 2002, 152 p.
- 28. **Ivari Kaljurand.** Self-consistent acidity scales of neutral and cationic Brønsted acids in acetonitrile and tetrahydrofuran. Tartu, 2003, 108 p.
- 29. Karmen Lust. Adsorption of anions on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 128 p.
- 30. **Mare Piirsalu.** Substituent, temperature and solvent effects on the alkaline hydrolysis of substituted phenyl and alkyl esters of benzoic acid. Tartu, 2003, 156 p.
- 31. Meeri Sassian. Reactions of partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003, 78 p.
- 32. **Tarmo Tamm.** Quantum chemical modelling of polypyrrole. Tartu, 2003. 100 p.
- 33. Erik Teinemaa. The environmental fate of the particulate matter and organic pollutants from an oil shale power plant. Tartu, 2003. 102 p.
- 34. Jaana Tammiku-Taul. Quantum chemical study of the properties of Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003. 120 p.
- 35. Andre Lomaka. Biomedical applications of predictive computational chemistry. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 36. Kostyantyn Kirichenko. Benzotriazole Mediated Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 37. **Gunnar Nurk.** Adsorption kinetics of some organic compounds on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 170 p.
- 38. **Mati Arulepp.** Electrochemical characteristics of porous carbon materials and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2003, 196 p.
- 39. **Dan Cornel Fara.** QSPR modeling of complexation and distribution of organic compounds. Tartu, 2004, 126 p.
- 40. **Riina Mahlapuu.** Signalling of galanin and amyloid precursor protein through adenylate cyclase. Tartu, 2004, 124 p.

- 41. **Mihkel Kerikmäe.** Some luminescent materials for dosimetric applications and physical research. Tartu, 2004, 143 p.
- 42. Jaanus Kruusma. Determination of some important trace metal ions in human blood. Tartu, 2004, 115 p.
- 43. Urmas Johanson. Investigations of the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole modified electrodes. Tartu, 2004, 91 p.
- 44. **Kaido Sillar.** Computational study of the acid sites in zeolite ZSM-5. Tartu, 2004, 80 p.
- 45. Aldo Oras. Kinetic aspects of dATP α S interaction with P2Y₁ receptor. Tartu, 2004, 75 p.
- 46. Erik Mölder. Measurement of the oxygen mass transfer through the airwater interface. Tartu, 2005, 73 p.
- 47. **Thomas Thomberg.** The kinetics of electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2005, 95 p.
- 48. Olavi Loog. Aspects of condensations of carbonyl compounds and their imine analogues. Tartu, 2005, 83 p.
- 49. Siim Salmar. Effect of ultrasound on ester hydrolysis in aqueous ethanol. Tartu, 2006, 73 p.
- 50. Ain Uustare. Modulation of signal transduction of heptahelical receptors by other receptors and G proteins. Tartu, 2006, 121 p.
- 51. Sergei Yurchenko. Determination of some carcinogenic contaminants in food. Tartu, 2006, 143 p.
- 52. **Kaido Tämm.** QSPR modeling of some properties of organic compounds. Tartu, 2006, 67 p.
- 53. Olga Tšubrik. New methods in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazines. Tartu. 2006, 183 p.
- 54. Lilli Sooväli. Spectrophotometric measurements and their uncertainty in chemical analysis and dissociation constant measurements. Tartu, 2006, 125 p.
- 55. Eve Koort. Uncertainty estimation of potentiometrically measured ph and pK_a values. Tartu, 2006, 139 p.
- 56. Sergei Kopanchuk. Regulation of ligand binding to melanocortin receptor subtypes. Tartu, 2006, 119 p.
- 57. Silvar Kallip. Surface structure of some bismuth and antimony single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2006, 107 p.
- 58. **Kristjan Saal.** Surface silanization and its application in biomolecule coupling. Tartu, 2006, 77 p.
- 59. **Tanel Tätte.** High viscosity Sn(OBu)₄ oligomeric concentrates and their applications in technology. Tartu, 2006, 91 p.
- 60. **Dimitar Atanasov Dobchev**. Robust QSAR methods for the prediction of properties from molecular structure. Tartu, 2006, 118 p.
- 61. Hannes Hagu. Impact of ultrasound on hydrophobic interactions in solutions. Tartu, 2007, 81 p.
- 62. **Rutha Jäger.** Electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on bismuth electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 142 p.

- 63. **Kaido Viht.** Immobilizable bisubstrate-analogue inhibitors of basophilic protein kinases: development and application in biosensors. Tartu, 2007, 88 p.
- 64. Eva-Ingrid Rõõm. Acid-base equilibria in nonpolar media. Tartu, 2007, 156 p.
- 65. **Sven Tamp.** DFT study of the cesium cation containing complexes relevant to the cesium cation binding by the humic acids. Tartu, 2007, 102 p.
- 66. Jaak Nerut. Electroreduction of hexacyanoferrate(III) anion on Cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2007, 180 p.
- 67. Lauri Jalukse. Measurement uncertainty estimation in amperometric dissolved oxygen concentration measurement. Tartu, 2007, 112 p.
- 68. Aime Lust. Charge state of dopants and ordered clusters formation in CaF₂:Mn and CaF₂:Eu luminophors. Tartu, 2007, 100 p.
- 69. **Iiris Kahn**. Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationships of environmentally relevant properties. Tartu, 2007, 98 p.
- 70. **Mari Reinik.** Nitrates, nitrites, N-nitrosamines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food: analytical methods, occurrence and dietary intake. Tartu, 2007, 172 p.
- 71. **Heili Kasuk.** Thermodynamic parameters and adsorption kinetics of organic compounds forming the compact adsorption layer at Bi single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 212 p.
- 72. Erki Enkvist. Synthesis of adenosine-peptide conjugates for biological applications. Tartu, 2007, 114 p.
- 73. **Svetoslav Hristov Slavov**. Biomedical applications of the QSAR approach. Tartu, 2007, 146 p.
- 74. Eneli Härk. Electroreduction of complex cations on electrochemically polished Bi(*hkl*) single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2008, 158 p.
- 75. **Priit Möller.** Electrochemical characteristics of some cathodes for medium temperature solid oxide fuel cells, synthesized by solid state reaction technique. Tartu, 2008, 90 p.
- 76. **Signe Viggor.** Impact of biochemical parameters of genetically different pseudomonads at the degradation of phenolic compounds. Tartu, 2008, 122 p.
- 77. Ave Sarapuu. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on quinone-modified carbon electrodes and on thin films of platinum and gold. Tartu, 2008, 134 p.
- 78. Agnes Kütt. Studies of acid-base equilibria in non-aqueous media. Tartu, 2008, 198 p.
- 79. **Rouvim Kadis.** Evaluation of measurement uncertainty in analytical chemistry: related concepts and some points of misinterpretation. Tartu, 2008, 118 p.
- 80. Valter Reedo. Elaboration of IVB group metal oxide structures and their possible applications. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 81. Aleksei Kuznetsov. Allosteric effects in reactions catalyzed by the cAMPdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2009, 133 p.

- 82. Aleksei Bredihhin. Use of mono- and polyanions in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazine derivatives. Tartu, 2009, 105 p.
- 83. Anu Ploom. Quantitative structure-reactivity analysis in organosilicon chemistry. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- Argo Vonk. Determination of adenosine A_{2A}- and dopamine D₁ receptorspecific modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in rat striatum. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 85. **Indrek Kivi.** Synthesis and electrochemical characterization of porous cathode materials for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2009, 177 p.
- 86. **Jaanus Eskusson.** Synthesis and characterisation of diamond-like carbon thin films prepared by pulsed laser deposition method. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 87. **Marko Lätt.** Carbide derived microporous carbon and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2009, 107 p.
- 88. Vladimir Stepanov. Slow conformational changes in dopamine transporter interaction with its ligands. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 89. Aleksander Trummal. Computational Study of Structural and Solvent Effects on Acidities of Some Brønsted Acids. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 90. **Eerold Vellemäe.** Applications of mischmetal in organic synthesis. Tartu, 2009, 93 p.
- 91. **Sven Parkel.** Ligand binding to 5-HT_{1A} receptors and its regulation by Mg²⁺ and Mn²⁺. Tartu, 2010, 99 p.
- 92. **Signe Vahur.** Expanding the possibilities of ATR-FT-IR spectroscopy in determination of inorganic pigments. Tartu, 2010, 184 p.
- 93. **Tavo Romann**. Preparation and surface modification of bismuth thin film, porous, and microelectrodes. Tartu, 2010, 155 p.
- 94. Nadežda Aleksejeva. Electrocatalytic reduction of oxygen on carbon nanotube-based nanocomposite materials. Tartu, 2010, 147 p.
- 95. **Marko Kullapere.** Electrochemical properties of glassy carbon, nickel and gold electrodes modified with aryl groups. Tartu, 2010, 233 p.
- 96. Liis Siinor. Adsorption kinetics of ions at Bi single crystal planes from aqueous electrolyte solutions and room-temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2010, 101 p.
- 97. **Angela Vaasa.** Development of fluorescence-based kinetic and binding assays for characterization of protein kinases and their inhibitors. Tartu 2010, 101 p.
- 98. **Indrek Tulp.** Multivariate analysis of chemical and biological properties. Tartu 2010, 105 p.
- 99. **Aare Selberg.** Evaluation of environmental quality in Northern Estonia by the analysis of leachate. Tartu 2010, 117 p.
- 100. **Darja Lavõgina.** Development of protein kinase inhibitors based on adenosine analogue-oligoarginine conjugates. Tartu 2010, 248 p.
- 101. Laura Herm. Biochemistry of dopamine D_2 receptors and its association with motivated behaviour. Tartu 2010, 156 p.

- 102. **Terje Raudsepp.** Influence of dopant anions on the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole films. Tartu 2010, 112 p.
- 103. **Margus Marandi.** Electroformation of Polypyrrole Films: *In-situ* AFM and STM Study. Tartu 2011, 116 p.
- 104. **Kairi Kivirand.** Diamine oxidase-based biosensors: construction and working principles. Tartu, 2011, 140 p.
- 105. Anneli Kruve. Matrix effects in liquid-chromatography electrospray mass-spectrometry. Tartu, 2011, 156 p.
- 106. Gary Urb. Assessment of environmental impact of oil shale fly ash from PF and CFB combustion. Tartu, 2011, 108 p.
- 107. Nikita Oskolkov. A novel strategy for peptide-mediated cellular delivery and induction of endosomal escape. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 108. **Dana Martin.** The QSPR/QSAR approach for the prediction of properties of fullerene derivatives. Tartu, 2011, 98 p.
- 109. Säde Viirlaid. Novel glutathione analogues and their antioxidant activity. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 110. Ülis Sõukand. Simultaneous adsorption of Cd²⁺, Ni²⁺, and Pb²⁺ on peat. Tartu, 2011, 124 p.
- 111. Lauri Lipping. The acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids, an outreach for the "limits of growth": a quantum chemical study. Tartu, 2011, 124 p.
- 112. **Heisi Kurig.** Electrical double-layer capacitors based on ionic liquids as electrolytes. Tartu, 2011, 146 p.
- 113. **Marje Kasari.** Bisubstrate luminescent probes, optical sensors and affinity adsorbents for measurement of active protein kinases in biological samples. Tartu, 2012, 126 p.
- 114. Kalev Takkis. Virtual screening of chemical databases for bioactive molecules. Tartu, 2012, 122 p.
- 115. Ksenija Kisseljova. Synthesis of $aza-\beta^3$ -amino acid containing peptides and kinetic study of their phosphorylation by protein kinase A. Tartu, 2012, 104 p.
- 116. **Riin Rebane.** Advanced method development strategy for derivatization LC/ESI/MS. Tartu, 2012, 184 p.
- Vladislav Ivaništšev. Double layer structure and adsorption kinetics of ions at metal electrodes in room temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2012, 128 p.
- 118. **Irja Helm.** High accuracy gravimetric Winkler method for determination of dissolved oxygen. Tartu, 2012, 139 p.
- 119. Karin Kipper. Fluoroalcohols as Components of LC-ESI-MS Eluents: Usage and Applications. Tartu, 2012, 164 p.
- 120. Arno Ratas. Energy storage and transfer in dosimetric luminescent materials. Tartu, 2012, 163 p.
- 121. **Reet Reinart-Okugbeni**. Assay systems for characterisation of subtypeselective binding and functional activity of ligands on dopamine receptors. Tartu, 2012, 159 p.

- 122. Lauri Sikk. Computational study of the Sonogashira cross-coupling reaction. Tartu, 2012, 81 p.
- 123. Karita Raudkivi. Neurochemical studies on inter-individual differences in affect-related behaviour of the laboratory rat. Tartu, 2012, 161 p.
- 124. **Indrek Saar.** Design of GalR2 subtype specific ligands: their role in depression-like behavior and feeding regulation. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.
- 125. Ann Laheäär. Electrochemical characterization of alkali metal salt based non-aqueous electrolytes for supercapacitors. Tartu, 2013, 127 p.
- Kerli Tõnurist. Influence of electrospun separator materials properties on electrochemical performance of electrical double-layer capacitors. Tartu, 2013, 147 p.
- 127. Kaija Põhako-Esko. Novel organic and inorganic ionogels: preparation and characterization. Tartu, 2013, 124 p.
- 128. **Ivar Kruusenberg.** Electroreduction of oxygen on carbon nanomaterialbased catalysts. Tartu, 2013, 191 p.
- 129. Sander Piiskop. Kinetic effects of ultrasound in aqueous acetonitrile solutions. Tartu, 2013, 95 p.
- 130. **Ilona Faustova**. Regulatory role of L-type pyruvate kinase N-terminal domain. Tartu, 2013, 109 p.
- 131. **Kadi Tamm.** Synthesis and characterization of the micro-mesoporous anode materials and testing of the medium temperature solid oxide fuel cell single cells. Tartu, 2013, 138 p.
- 132. Iva Bozhidarova Stoyanova-Slavova. Validation of QSAR/QSPR for regulatory purposes. Tartu, 2013, 109 p.
- 133. Vitali Grozovski. Adsorption of organic molecules at single crystal electrodes studied by *in situ* STM method. Tartu, 2014, 146 p.
- 134. Santa Veikšina. Development of assay systems for characterisation of ligand binding properties to melanocortin 4 receptors. Tartu, 2014, 151 p.
- 135. Jüri Liiv. PVDF (polyvinylidene difluoride) as material for active element of twisting-ball displays. Tartu, 2014, 111 p.
- 136. Kersti Vaarmets. Electrochemical and physical characterization of pristine and activated molybdenum carbide-derived carbon electrodes for the oxygen electroreduction reaction. Tartu, 2014, 131 p.
- 137. Lauri Tõntson. Regulation of G-protein subtypes by receptors, guanine nucleotides and Mn²⁺. Tartu, 2014, 105 p.
- 138. Aiko Adamson. Properties of amine-boranes and phosphorus analogues in the gas phase. Tartu, 2014, 78 p.
- 139. **Elo Kibena**. Electrochemical grafting of glassy carbon, gold, highly oriented pyrolytic graphite and chemical vapour deposition-grown graphene electrodes by diazonium reduction method. Tartu, 2014, 184 p.
- Teemu Näykki. Novel Tools for Water Quality Monitoring From Field to Laboratory. Tartu, 2014, 202 p.
- 141. Karl Kaupmees. Acidity and basicity in non-aqueous media: importance of solvent properties and purity. Tartu, 2014, 128 p.

- 142. **Oleg Lebedev**. Hydrazine polyanions: different strategies in the synthesis of heterocycles. Tartu, 2015, 118 p.
- 143. Geven Piir. Environmental risk assessment of chemicals using QSAR methods. Tartu, 2015, 123 p.
- 144. **Olga Mazina.** Development and application of the biosensor assay for measurements of cyclic adenosine monophosphate in studies of G protein-coupled receptor signalinga. Tartu, 2015, 116 p.
- 145. Sandip Ashokrao Kadam. Anion receptors: synthesis and accurate binding measurements. Tartu, 2015, 116 p.
- 146. **Indrek Tallo.** Synthesis and characterization of new micro-mesoporous carbide derived carbon materials for high energy and power density electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2015, 148 p.
- 147. **Heiki Erikson.** Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on nanostructured palladium and gold catalysts. Tartu, 2015, 204 p.
- 148. Erik Anderson. *In situ* Scanning Tunnelling Microscopy studies of the interfacial structure between Bi(111) electrode and a room temperature ionic liquid. Tartu, 2015, 118 p.
- 149. Girinath G. Pillai. Computational Modelling of Diverse Chemical, Biochemical and Biomedical Properties. Tartu, 2015, 140 p.
- 150. **Piret Pikma.** Interfacial structure and adsorption of organic compounds at Cd(0001) and Sb(111) electrodes from ionic liquid and aqueous electrolytes: an *in situ* STM study. Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 151. Ganesh babu Manoharan. Combining chemical and genetic approaches for photoluminescence assays of protein kinases. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 152. Carolin Siimenson. Electrochemical characterization of halide ion adsorption from liquid mixtures at Bi(111) and pyrolytic graphite electrode surface. Tartu, 2016, 110 p.
- 153. Asko Laaniste. Comparison and optimisation of novel mass spectrometry ionisation sources. Tartu, 2016, 156 p.
- 154. **Hanno Evard.** Estimating limit of detection for mass spectrometric analysis methods. Tartu, 2016, 224 p.
- 155. **Kadri Ligi.** Characterization and application of protein kinase-responsive organic probes with triplet-singlet energy transfer. Tartu, 2016, 122 p.
- 156. **Margarita Kagan.** Biosensing penicillins' residues in milk flows. Tartu, 2016, 130 p.
- 157. **Marie Kriisa.** Development of protein kinase-responsive photoluminescent probes and cellular regulators of protein phosphorylation. Tartu, 2016, 106 p.
- 158. **Mihkel Vestli.** Ultrasonic spray pyrolysis deposited electrolyte layers for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2016, 156 p.
- 159. **Silver Sepp**. Influence of porosity of the carbide-derived carbon on the properties of the composite electrocatalysts and characteristics of polymer electrolyte fuel cells. Tartu, 2016, 137 p.
- 160. Kristjan Haav. Quantitative relative equilibrium constant measurements in supramolecular chemistry. Tartu, 2017, 158 p.

- 161. Anu Teearu. Development of MALDI-FT-ICR-MS methodology for the analysis of resinous materials. Tartu, 2017, 205 p.
- 162. **Taavi Ivan**. Bifunctional inhibitors and photoluminescent probes for studies on protein complexes. Tartu, 2017, 140 p.
- 163. **Maarja-Liisa Oldekop**. Characterization of amino acid derivatization reagents for LC-MS analysis. Tartu, 2017, 147 p.
- 164. Kristel Jukk. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on platinum- and palladium-based nanocatalysts. Tartu, 2017, 250 p.
- 165. Siim Kukk. Kinetic aspects of interaction between dopamine transporter and *N*-substituted nortropane derivatives. Tartu, 2017, 107 p.
- 166. **Birgit Viira**. Design and modelling in early drug development in targeting HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and Malaria. Tartu, 2017, 172 p.
- 167. **Rait Kivi**. Allostery in cAMP dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2017, 115 p.
- 168. Agnes Heering. Experimental realization and applications of the unified acidity scale. Tartu, 2017, 123 p.
- 169. **Delia Juronen**. Biosensing system for the rapid multiplex detection of mastitis-causing pathogens in milk. Tartu, 2018, 85 p.
- 170. **Hedi Rahnel.** ARC-inhibitors: from reliable biochemical assays to regulators of physiology of cells. Tartu, 2018, 176 p.
- 171. Anton Ruzanov. Computational investigation of the electrical double layer at metal–aqueous solution and metal–ionic liquid interfaces. Tartu, 2018, 129 p.
- 172. Katrin Kestav. Crystal Structure-Guided Development of Bisubstrate-Analogue Inhibitors of Mitotic Protein Kinase Haspin. Tartu, 2018, 166 p.
- 173. **Mihkel Ilisson.** Synthesis of novel heterocyclic hydrazine derivatives and their conjugates. Tartu, 2018, 101 p.
- 174. Anni Allikalt. Development of assay systems for studying ligand binding to dopamine receptors. Tartu, 2018, 160 p.
- 175. **Ove Oll.** Electrical double layer structure and energy storage characteristics of ionic liquid based capacitors. Tartu, 2018, 187 p.
- 176. **Rasmus Palm.** Carbon materials for energy storage applications. Tartu, 2018, 114 p.
- 177. **Jörgen Metsik.** Preparation and stability of poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) thin films for transparent electrode applications. Tartu, 2018, 111 p.
- 178. **Sofja Tšepelevitš.** Experimental studies and modeling of solute-solvent interactions. Tartu, 2018, 109 p.
- 179. Märt Lõkov. Basicity of some nitrogen, phosphorus and carbon bases in acetonitrile. Tartu, 2018, 104 p.
- 180. Anton Mastitski. Preparation of α -aza-amino acid precursors and related compounds by novel methods of reductive one-pot alkylation and direct alkylation. Tartu, 2018, 155 p.
- Jürgen Vahter. Development of bisubstrate inhibitors for protein kinase CK2. Tartu, 2019, 186 p.

182. **Piia Liigand.** Expanding and improving methodology and applications of ionization efficiency measurements. Tartu, 2019, 189 p.